FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
2/14/2024 12:56 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/14/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 39483-2-III

102795-8

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IAN ATKERSON, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Rustin Atkerson,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN, YOUTH, AND FAMILIES, John and Jane Doe 1-10,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Ian Atkerson, individually and as the personal representative of Rustin Atkerson's Estate, seeks this Court's review of the decision set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

After denying Atkerson's motion to transfer the case to this Court, Division III filed its published decision terminating review on January 30, 2024. A copy is in the Appendix. This case presents two significant first impression issues pertinent to liability in child abuse investigations – the interpretation of RCW 4.24.595(1), and the admissibility of a former judge's legal opinion under ER 403 as an expert witness.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where the Department of Children, Youth, and Families ("DCYF") Child Protective Services ("CPS") caseworkers did not establish a safety plan for the child, had not scheduled an emergent shelter care hearing for an abused two-year-old child, and contemplated completing their abuse investigation in 30-60 days, did Division III err in concluding that a gross negligence standard under RCW 4.24.595(1) applied to DCYF's negligent, incomplete investigation of the child's abuse

that led to his death?

2. Did Division III err in overriding the trial court's ER 403 decision that a former judge's legal opinion on what a "reasonable judge" would have done in a shelter care hearing (that never occurred) was unfairly prejudicial?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division III's published opinion sets forth the facts and procedures in the case, op. at 3-12, but it glides past critical facts that bear emphasis for this Court's review decision.

First, Rustin was two years old and largely nonverbal. He could not report his own abuse.

Second, Hurd had very serious anger issues. She displayed aggressive, violent outbursts toward Ian and B.B., Rustin's stepbrother, supp. CP 84, losing control and screaming at both boys. CP 863. In the parties' dissolution, the court commissioner *sua sponte* ordered an anger evaluation for Hurd, supp. CP 467, and that evaluation confirmed the seriousness of her frequent uncontrolled outbursts. Supp. CP 348-54.

Third, Rustin's multiple bruises while in Hurd's care were

more serious than Division III described. Op. at 3-4. Rustin had a large, circular bruise on his right cheek after a May 21, 2017 visit with Hurd. CP 348-54. On June 4, he had bruises on his right upper arm, shoulder, and collarbone; the collarbone bruises by his neck looked like a handprint, as photos documented. CP 864-65. The bruise on the inside of his arm (where the elbow bends) was the size of a half-dollar. *Id*.

Rustin's grandmother called CPS on June 11 to report new bruising on Rustin after he returned from a June 7-11 stay with Hurd. CP 523. Photos provided to CPS showed that Rustin's new injuries included a scratch on his left eye and an injury to his left foot/ankle. CP 866; Supp. CP 102-04. The photos confirmed the handprint-like bruise on Rustin's collarbone/shoulder (first noticed on June 4). CP 867.

On June 18, Rustin's father, Ian, contacted the police again when Rustin returned from Hurd's house with about a two-inch by one-inch bruise at the base of his skull, going down his spine, where the neck and the back come together. CP 868. Ian

reported this new bruising to CPS on June 19.

Fourth, on June 7, Rustin sustained a broken arm while in Hurd's care; Ian reported that injury to CPS. Supp. CP 70-71; CP 134-38. That same day, the E.R. Physician's Assistant, Casey Wyatt, called CPS independently to report Rustin's broken arm. CP 865. Wyatt noted a 19-hour delay in seeking care for Rustin's broken arm. Id. Wyatt's concerns about Rustin's broken arm were confirmed by orthopedic surgeon Dr. Richard Brownlee after Rustin's June 15 examination. Supp. CP 74, 192-96. Dr. Brownlee noted that Rustin kept saying: "I'm sorry," an important fact in abuse cases where little children often blame themselves for their own abuse. CP 898. After this appointment, Dr. Brownlee called CPS. Id. CPS took no action on that referral, id, or on Wyatt's and Ian's earlier reports. Supp. CP 127-38.¹

¹ Rustin's fracture is very uncommon in a two-year-old child. CP 898; they are extremely painful and required significant force to inflict. Supp. CP 460.

Fifth, CPS knew that Hurd was not living at her reported residence. Veronica Mabee, the CPS caseworker assigned to Rustin's case, met face-to-face with Hurd, Rustin, and Hurd's older son B.B. on June 9. CP 561-62. She observed Hurd hit 2year-old Rustin at that meeting for taking something from her purse. CP 561. B.B. specifically told Mabee that Hurd did not come home certain nights and spent days with her friends; he had not seen his mother for three days. Id. Mabee never asked where Hurd was staying or with whom; instead, she simply accepted Hurd's father's characterizing of Hurd's residential arrangement as Hurd "occasionally leaving the house." CP 562. Mabee was told by Rustin's grandmother on June 11 that she was living with her boyfriend in East Wenatchee. Supp. CP 184.

Hurd revealed to Mabee on June 15 that she was living with friends with kids in Wenatchee. CP 563. She also reported "dating around." *Id.* Despite this knowledge, Mabee made no effort to follow up on a precise address for Hurd's new residential arrangement or the identity of these "friends" or

persons with whom she was "dating around." Supp. CP 211-12.²

Sixth, Mabee had concerns that Hurd was dishonest, might be using drugs, and had mental health issues. Op. at 6-7, 8.

Seventh, the record documents that Mabee paid little attention to Ian's reports; she was too busy to contact Dr. Brownlee. Supp. CP 1244. She told Ian he would be arrested if he violated the parenting plan to protect Rustin. Supp. CP 813.

As of June 21, before Rustin's horrible injury, op. at 8, Mabee and CPS knew of Hurd's anger issues, her bogus complaints against Ian, her possible mental health and drug issues, her likely residence with some unknown third person, independent reports of likely abuse by two medical professionals, and, most of all, the reports of serious, obvious physical harm to Rustin. Mabee did *nothing* to remove Rustin

² DCYF stated that the "first time" Mabee learned of Steven Rowe was after the fatal blow to Rustin. Br. of Appellants at 10. That was false; Mabee knew that Hurd was with a third person, as noted above.

from the obviously unsafe placement with Hurd. CPS did not create a safety plan for two-year-old Rustin despite his bruises and broken arm. CP 310-12. *Compare*, *Albertson v. State*, 191 Wn. App. 284, 291, 361 P.3d 808 (2015) (safety plan). CPS made no effort to seek Rustin's voluntary placement in a safe, third party residential setting, as the Estate's expert, Jane Ramon, testified was the standard of care. CP 901, 902-03. It is undisputed that CPS never petitioned a court for a shelter care hearing.

On June 22, while in Hurd's custody, Rustin suffered a severe head injury that necessitated an emergency craniotomy and ultimately a life flight to Harborview Hospital for specialized care. Supp. CP 77. Despite the severity of Rustin's head injury, Hurd waited until the next day to call 911. Rustin died from his injuries on August 3, 2017. *Id*.

Suddenly energized from her lethargy by the severity of Rustin's traumatic injuries, Mabee finally faxed a request for

Rustin's medical records,³ interviewed Hurd in earnest and discovered information about Steven Rowe, Hurd's live-in boyfriend who had a long criminal and CPS history and abuse of his own children. Supp. CP 475. Mabee finally told Ian to take emergency protective custody of Rustin. CP 566. This belated flurry of activity was too little, too late.⁴

- E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
 - (1) <u>Division III Incorrectly Interpreted RCW</u> 4.24.595(1)⁵

³ The fax seeking the records is date stamped June 22. Supp. CP 1465.

⁴ Law enforcement officials later concluded that Rustin's injuries were not consistent with accidental falls, as Hurd had previously claimed. Supp. CP 458-65.

⁵ The central goal of any statutory interpretation is to carry out legislative intent. *State, Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11-12, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). This Court's analysis begins by looking at the words of the statute. *Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Credit Suisse Sec. (USA) LLC*, 194 Wn.2d 253, 258, 449 P.3d 1019 (2019) reaffirmed that (the "bedrock principle of statutory interpretation" is the statute's "plain language."); *Davis v. Dep't of Licensing*, 137 Wn.2d 957, 963-64, 977 P.2d 554 (1999) ("the legislature means exactly what it says.").

Division III's published opinion applied a gross negligence standard in this case even though DCYF adduced *no evidence* that an emergency placement investigation was at issue. Op. at 13. That decision defies this Court's interpretation of RCW 4.24.595(2) in *Desmet v. State*, 200 Wn.2d 145, 514 P.3d 1217 (2022), the facts, and common sense. In effect, Division III overrules this Court's line of cases on negligent child abuse investigations by CPS in a published opinion. Review is merited, particularly where it is highly likely that DCYF will rely on Division III's opinion in pending child abuse cases against it. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

(a) Actions Against DCYF for Negligent Child Abuse Investigations

An overarching *right* of children in Washington to a healthy and safe placement, free of abuse. RCW 13.34.020; RCW 26.44.010. *See* Appendix.⁶ To implement that

⁶ These statutes "safeguard, protect, and contribute to the welfare of the children of the state," and the guiding principle of our child welfare system is that 'the child's health and safety

overarching policy, the Legislature mandates that child abuse or neglect be reported. RCW 26.44.030 (requiring that when a child's physical or mental health is at risk, "the health and safety interests of the child should prevail." RCW 26.44.010). *See* Appendix. Such reports of abuse or neglect must be properly investigated by CPS or law enforcement. RCW 26.44.050.

This Court implied a right of action for inadequate child abuse investigations under RCW 26.44.050. *Tyner v. Department of Social & Health Services, Child Protective Services*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000) (adopting implied right of action and ruling that caseworkers' failure to interview collateral sources for the court created fact issues for jury to resolve); *M.W. v. Department of Social & Health Services*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 602, 70 P.3d 954 (2003) (the essential elements of

shall be the paramount concern." *H.B.H. v. State*, 192 Wn.2d 154, 164, 429 P.3d 484 (2018) (quoting RCW 13.34.020 and 74.13.010); *C.J.C. v. Corp. of the Cath. Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wn.2d 699, 717, 985 P.2d 262 (1999) (recognizing the overriding and paramount legislative intent to protect children from physical and sexual abuse).

the claim are: the investigation must gather incomplete or biased information and such inadequate investigation must result in a harmful placement decision).

The Estate met the *Tyner/M.W. prima facie* claim elements. CPS received multiple reports of Rustin's abuse. CPS's incomplete investigation failed to appreciate Hurd's anger issues, to interview medical practitioners as to Rustin's obvious abuse, to heed photographs from family members of Rustin's abuse, or to interview the persons with whom Hurd was living, resulting in Rustin's harmful placement with Hurd and Rowe, and his consequent death.

The 2012 Legislature enacted RCW 4.24.595(1) to amend *Tyner/M.W.* in a limited fashion. Division III misread RCW 4.24.595(1).⁷

⁷ As Division III recognized, op. at 19, when changing the common law, any statute purporting to abrogate a common law principle requires the Legislature to do so *expressly*, *Potter v. Wash. State Patrol*, 165 Wn.2d 67, 76, 196 P.3d 691 (2008), and such statute is *strictly construed*. *In re EM Property Holdings LLC v. Epic Solutions, Inc.*, 199 Wn.2d 725, 734, 511 P.3d 1258

(b) Division III Defied the Plain Language of RCW 4.24.595 and This Court's Treatment of the Statute

Division III's published opinion avoids the express language of RCW 4.24.595(1) limiting DCYF's immunity only to emergent placement decisions defined as those decisions "conducted prior to a shelter care hearing under RCW 13.34.065." Instead, it effectively overrules *Tyner/M.W.* Op. at 17-20.

The Legislature pegged RCW 4.24.595(1)'s application to emergent situations and shelter care hearings, by its terms. Division III read the term "emergent" and "shelter care hearings" out of the statute despite the rule that when, in interpreting a statute, a court must give meaning to all words the Legislature used. Dot Foods, Inc. v. Wash. Dep't of Revenue, 166 Wn.2d

(2022).

⁸ RCW 13.34.065(1)(a) states that "[t]he primary purpose of the shelter care hearing is to determine whether the child can be immediately and safely returned home while the adjudication of the dependency is pending."

912, 919, 215 P.3d 185 (2009).

Division III fails to analyze the significance of the Legislature's reference to a shelter care hearing; dismissing without analysis the 72-hour time frame for shelter care proceedings. Op. at 19-20.

Shelter care has a *specific* meaning. When a child has been removed from the family or removal is sought, a shelter care hearing is required within 72 hours. RCW 13.34.060(1); RCW 13.34.065. CPS's investigation is an "emergent placement investigation" under RCW 4.24.595(1) only if it is connected to such a time-sensitive court decision. By incorporating the shelter care statute into the definition of an "emergent placement investigation," RCW 4.24.595(1) necessarily restricts the gross negligence standard to: (1) accelerated investigations (2) conducted within the 72-hour period before a shelter care hearing (3) when a child is removed from the parents pending the hearing, or removal is sought.

Similarly, the term "emergent," too, has an express

meaning. Bryan A. Garner (ed.), *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed.) at 660 (defining an "emergency" as a "sudden and serious event or an unforeseen change in circumstances that calls for immediate action to avert, control, or remedy harm."). *See City of Yakima v. Johnson*, 16 Wn. App. 143, 146, 553 P.2d 1104 (1976), *review denied*, 88 Wn.2d 1004 (1977) (in absence of a statutory definition, words should be construed with their general dictionary meaning).

Nothing CPS's caseworkers did here connotes an "emergent" placement decision. They never set up a safety plan for Rustin, as noted *supra*. CPS never removed Rustin from his parents nor did it seek his removal. Rather, after his broken arm, he was released from the hospital to his mother, allowing him to remain in an abusive home. Supp. CP 70-74. CPS's own staff confirmed that their investigation was not "emergent" and they never contemplated a shelter care hearing, since they testified that their investigation would take 30 or 60 days to complete. Supp. CP 1189, 1225, 1235, 1339. CPS's investigation between

the end of May and mid-June betrays no hint of any "emergency" in addressing reports of Rustin's repeated physical trauma.⁹

Nothing in RCW 4.24.595(1) evidences an intent to totally overrule *Tyner/M.W.* Division III rewrites RCW 4.24.595(1) to apply a gross negligence standard *far* more broadly than contemplated by the statute's express language, essentially extending immunity to virtually *any* child abuse investigation *if* that investigation might *theoretically* be relevant to an emergency placement. Op. at 19-20. The trial court properly rejected such a broad interpretation, noting the need for a shelter care hearing as a predicate to the statute's application. RP 72-

⁹ Division II's opinion in *Petersen v. State*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 1079, 2019 WL 3430537 (2019) (unpublished), does not help DCYF because the CPS investigation there *was* connected to a shelter care proceeding. Upon receipt of sexual abuse reports, CPS placed the child victim in emergency foster care and filed a dependency petition. RCW 4.24.595(1) applied because the CPS investigation was close in time to the shelter care hearing and there was a continuing investigation after that hearing. *Id.* at *5. The court was not concerned about the exact timing of the shelter care hearing, *id.*, but that did not eliminate the need for a connection to an emergent situation, as Division III's published opinion does.

Division III's published opinion is contrary to this Court's *Desmet* decision where the Court concluded that RCW 4.24.595(2)¹⁰ must be *narrowly* construed and did not afford the State immunity from false light and negligent infliction of emotional distress claims. Critically, the Court stated that *nothing* in the plain language of the statute indicated a legislative intent to overrule *Tyner* and to immunize the State from all tort claims, as DCYF specifically contended in that case. *Id.* at 161. Division III's opinion results in the very outcome the *Desmet* court rejected, holding that RCW 4.24.595(1) requires a gross negligence standard in all abuse investigation cases, overruling *Tyner/M.W.*¹¹

Division III's published opinion disconnects the

RCW 4.24.595(2) provided complete immunity to DCYF and its staff for acts performed to comply with court shelter care or dependency orders.

¹¹ Such a statutory interpretation, overriding the common law, is not a *strict* interpretation of RCW 4.24.595(1).

interpretation of RCW 4.24.595(1) from emergent placements or shelter care. Op. at 19-20. Contrary to Division III's analysis that the Legislature placed no temporal restrictions on RCW 4.24.595(1)'s limited immunity, *id.*, the Legislature recognized that when DCYF must investigate in a compressed time frame, *i.e.*, during the mere 72 hours afforded under RCW 13.34.065, DCYF is afforded more latitude in the quality of its investigations, and is afforded limited relief by RCW 4.24.595(1). Here, CPS was not acting under the 72-hour compressed investigation timeline. It was going to take 30-60 days to act, hardly an emergency.

DCYF made a policy argument below to avoid the plain language of the statute, contending RCW 4.24.595(1) is designed to give DCYF staff "breathing room" to investigate, and that "[i]t would make no sense to insulate social workers with a gross negligence standard when they find sufficient information to support a shelter care hearing, but not in the absence of such information." CP 981. But that argument reads "emergent" and

"shelter care" out of the statute, defying the express statutory language that references an *emergent* placement investigation tied to a shelter care hearing. By its plain language, RCW 13.34.065 applies when a child is taken into custody, at which time a shelter care hearing must be scheduled. If CPS does not take a child into custody and no hearing is scheduled under RCW 13.34.065, by definition its investigation is not emergent.

Division III's statutory interpretation represents bad public policy. RCW 13.34 and 26.44 protect kids, not CPS caseworkers. In effectively immunizing DCYF for negligently performing its primary protective function, the competent investigation of reports of child abuse and neglect, Division III incentivizes the kind of cavalier investigation Mabee conducted here.

RCW 4.24.595(1) does not apply to Rustin.

(c) <u>Division III Contravened the Legislative</u> <u>History of RCW 4.24.595(1)</u>

Division III's interpretation of the statute is contrary to its

legislative history.¹² The 2012 Legislature's intent to address government liability when a child was removed from the family home on an *emergent* basis only was clear from the final bill report and committee testimony on the bill, including that of DCYF's own representative. That testimony focused on a narrow window of time for CPS caseworker special limited immunity; the Legislature did not intend to overrule *Tyner/M.W.*See Appendix.¹³ The *Desmet* court confirmed that the 2012 legislation was not intended to nullify *Tyner* and afford DCYF "absolute liability" in its investigations of child abuse and neglect. *Desmet*, 200 Wn.2d at 161. Division III's analysis is exactly the contrary. This Court should provide the ultimate

Where the statute is "susceptible to two or more reasonable interpretations," the statute is ambiguous, *Burton v. Lehman*, 153 Wn.2d 416, 423, 103 P.3d 1230 (2005), and this Court may then look to extrinsic construction aids like legislative history materials to determine legislative intent. *Dep't of Ecology*, 146 Wn.2d at 11.

The bill was the product of agreement by multiple organizations, many of which would not have agreed to as broad an immunity bill as Division III now condones.

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