FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/18/2024 2:39 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102795-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IAN ATKERSON, individually and as Personal Representative to the Estate of RUSTIN ATKERSON,

Plaintiff - Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN, YOUTH, and FAMILIES, John and Jane Doe 1-10,

Defendant - Respondent.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF RESPONDENT STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN, YOUTH, AND FAMILIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JOSHUA SCHAER Assistant Attorney General WSBA #31491 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2042 OID #91019

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied a Gross Negligence Standard to DCYF's Emergent Placement Investigation

The Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 4.24.595(1) does not conflict with Supreme Court precedent, and it does not raise an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4); *cf.* Pet. for Review at 20.² Rather, the Court of Appeals adopted a plain reading of RCW 4.24.595(1) that gives effect to "the text, the context of the statute, related statutory provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *State v. Valdiglesias LaValle*, 2 Wn.3d 310, 318, 535 P.3d 856 (2023) (citation omitted); *see also Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002) (statutory meaning is a legal issue reviewed *de novo*).

The primary objective of statutory interpretation is to "ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent."

² Atkerson does not argue that there is a significant constitutional issue in this case. See RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Desmet v. State by & through Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 200 Wn.2d 145, 153, 514 P.3d 1217 (2022), reconsideration denied (Sept. 27, 2022) (citation omitted). If a statute is unambiguous after a review of its plain meaning, "the court's inquiry is at an end." *Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010); *see also State v. Watson*, 146 Wn.2d 947, 955, 51 P.3d 66 (2002) ("An unambiguous statute is not subject to judicial construction.").

"A statute is ambiguous if it is susceptible to two or more reasonable interpretations, but a statute is not ambiguous merely because different interpretations are conceivable." *Cerrillo v. Esparza*, 158 Wn.2d 194, 201, 142 P.3d 155, 158 (2006) (citations and internal quotations omitted). Only if a statute is ambiguous should the court "look to the legislative history of the statute and the circumstances surrounding its enactment to determine legislative intent." *Lake*, 169 Wn.2d at 527.

The statute in question, RCW 4.24.595, reads in relevant part:

Governmental entities, and their officers, agents, employees, and volunteers, are not liable in tort for any of their acts or omissions in emergent placement investigations of child abuse or neglect under chapter 26.44 RCW including, but not limited to, any determination to leave a child with a parent, custodian, or guardian, or to return a child to a parent, custodian, or guardian, unless the act or omission constitutes gross negligence. Emergent placement investigations are those conducted prior to a shelter care hearing under RCW 13.34.065.

RCW 4.24.595(1). The Court of Appeals' analysis of this statute first confirms that Atkerson's negligent investigation claim is strictly based on DCYF's limited statutory duty to investigate reported allegations of child abuse or neglect found in RCW 26.44. *Atkerson*, 542 P.3d at 601; *see also M.W. v. Dep't of Soc.* & *Health Servs.*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 594, 70 P.3d 954 (2003); *Tyner v. State Dep't of Soc.* & *Health Servs.*, *Child Protective Servs.*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000); RCW 26.44.050 ("[T]he department must investigate . . . and *where necessary* . . . refer such report to the court." (Emphasis added.)).

According to the statutory framework in RCW 26.44, an investigation into reports of "alleged abuse or neglect that are

accepted for investigation by the department" must conclude no later than 90 days from its inception but can end sooner through court action. RCW 26.44.030(13)(a).³

DCYF's investigatory duty and the purposes of that duty were expressed in *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 80 ("RCW 26.44.050 has two purposes: to protect children and preserve the integrity of the family."). A plaintiff such as Atkerson must prove that, during an investigation, DCYF "gathered incomplete or biased information that results in a harmful placement decision such as removing a child from a non-abusive home, placing a child in an abusive home or letting a child remain in an abusive home." *Atkerson*, 542 P.3d at 602; *see also Petcu v. State*, 121 Wn. App.

³ Atkerson's reliance on a dictionary definition of "emergent," Pet. for Review at 14, does not supersede the Legislature's clear mandate in RCW 26.44.030(13)(a) allowing social workers up to 90 days to complete an investigation unless immediate court action is deemed necessary. *Atkerson*, 542 P.3d at 602-03. Here, because no information indicated that Rustin was at risk of imminent danger, Mabee had no lawful basis to seek removal of Rustin from his parents' care contrary to a just-entered parenting plan. CP 478, 563.

36, 59, 86 P.3d 1234 (2004) ("[O]ur Supreme Court has rejected the proposition that an actionable breach of duty occurs every time the state conducts an investigation that falls below a reasonable standard of care by, for example, failing to follow proper investigative procedures.").

After the decision in Tyner and similar cases, the Legislature enacted RCW 4.24.595 to address potential liability resulting from emergent placement investigations arising under RCW 26.44. See, e.g., Desmet, 200 Wn.2d at 157 n.12. The Court of Appeals in this case reconfirmed that, as discussed in *Tyner*, RCW 4.24.595 "must be strictly construed to limit its application to those situations clearly within its scope." Atkerson, 542 P.3d at 603. In evaluating the statute's scope, it is apparent the Legislature chose to require a gross negligence standard to establish liability resulting from DCYF's placement determination, and further defined emergent placement investigations as taking place "prior to a shelter care hearing." RCW 4.24.595(1).

Shelter care hearings occur "when a child is taken into custody" after removal from a parent or guardian. RCW 13.34.065(1). At the hearing, a court will "determine whether the child can be immediately and safely returned home." RCW 13.34.065(1)(a). Generally, absent court order, a shelter care hearing must held within 72 hours from when a child is taken into custody. *Id*.

As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized in this case, nothing in RCW 4.24.595(1) conditions application of the gross negligence standard to only investigations resulting in a postremoval shelter care hearing because the plain text specifically includes "any determination to leave a child with a parent" as one possible result of an emergent placement investigation. 542 P.3d 601. Atkerson's reading Atkerson, at of RCW 4.24.595(1), erroneously adopted by the trial court, would render this statutory language superfluous and nonsensical since an investigation that leaves a child with their parent is inconsistent with custodial action resulting in shelter care. See

15

State v. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d 534, 546-47, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014), as amended (Mar. 13, 2014) (Courts should not "interpret statutes in a way that would render any statutory language superfluous or nonsensical." (Citation omitted.)); RCW 26.44.050 (investigation does not always compel court action); cf. Pet. for Review at 13 (arguing the statute only applies "when a child is removed").

Because RCW 4.24.595(1) is unambiguous, there is no need to consider secondary sources such as legislative history to give effect to the statute's clear purpose, *i.e.*, holding DCYF's conduct to a gross negligence standard in claims arising from *any* emergent placement investigation, including where a child remains in the care of a parent or guardian.⁴

⁴ Even a reading of legislative history lends no support to Atkerson's position. The Final Bill Report leading to the enactment of RCW 4.24.595 does not state that emergent placement investigations must *only* occur when a child is taken into custody as Atkerson contends. *See* Pet. for Review at 13. Rather, the report explicitly notes that "*in some cases* of alleged abuse or neglect, a child *may be* immediately removed from a

Additionally, statutory provisions should be read together "to the end that a harmonious, total statutory scheme evolves which maintains the integrity of the respective statutes." In re Estate of Kerr, 134 Wn.2d 328, 336, 949 P.2d 810 (1998). Here, the Court of Appeals adhered to this principle by interpreting RCW 4.24.595(1) to comport with the plain meaning of subsection (2) in the same statute. The gross negligence standard in subsection (1) governs the initial stage of an investigation after a report of abuse of neglect is accepted pursuant to RCW 26.44.030(13)(a), while the immunity found in subsection (2) relates to actions taken after an investigation's result, such as shelter care, going forward. See Desmet, 200 Wn.2d at 156; Atkerson, 542 P.3d at 602; see also H.B.H. v. State, 192 Wn.2d 154, 178, 429 P.3d 484 (2018) (ordinary negligence standard applies once a special relationship is created through foster placement).

parent or guardian and taken into protective custody." *Id.* at App. 32 (emphasis added).

The Desmet Court did not analyze RCW 4.24.595(1), so nothing in the Court of Appeals' reasoning conflicts with this controlling authority. Desmet, 200 Wn.2d at 153 ("The sole question before us is whether RCW 4.24.595(2) grants the Department immunity for its *postplacement conduct*." (Emphasis added.)). To the extent that *Desmet* is precedential when analyzing RCW 4.24.595 generally, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case is consistent with this Court's statutory interpretation in *Desmet* insofar as: 1) both subsections of RCW 4.24.595 are unambiguous; 2) RCW 4.24.595 was enacted to limit DCYF's liability, but the limitation is not absolute; and 3) RCW 4.24.595 does not nullify precedent such as *Tyner*. Desmet, 200 Wn.2d at 154, 160, 165.

The Court of Appeals accurately interpreted RCW 4.24.595(1) to cover all emergent placement investigations that take place prior to a shelter care hearing, whether such a hearing ever happens or not, including investigations that result in a child remaining with their parent and preserving family

18

integrity as the statute expressly provides. *Atkerson*, 542 P.3d at 602-03. Therefore, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court precedent and does not present an issue of substantial public interest. *Cf.* Pet. for Review at 9 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4)).

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied ER 403 to the Expert Testimony of a Retired Judge Who Rebuts the Opinion of Atkerson's Witness

1. Retired judges frequently serve as experts

Atkerson asserts that the social worker's decision to not seek a shelter care order was the proximate cause of Rustin's later injury. *See*, *e.g.*, *W.M. by Olson v. State*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 608, 622, 498 P.3d 48 (2021), *review denied*, 1 Wn.3d 1012 (2022) (proximate cause is an essential element of negligent investigation). To support this contention, Atkerson proffered testimony from a former social worker who last worked for the State in 1985. CP 441, 907-08, 911. This witness opines, without adequate foundation, that a judge would have "taken action to protect Rustin" and determined "Rustin could not remain in Ms. Hurd's care." CP 900-01.

In response, DCYF identified former judge Kitty-Ann Van Doorninck as an expert. CP 34. Van Doorninck possesses experience presiding over dependency proceedings, and she completed 24 years of judicial service before retiring in 2022. CP 745-46. Van Doorninck maintains that no reasonable judge would have taken drastic action to remove Rustin from his parents at a shelter care hearing if presented with facts known at the time. *See, e.g.*, CP 750-51.

Van Doorninck's testimony comports with other decisions approving the admissibility of retired judges' opinions on the likelihood of certain rulings as substantive evidence.

For example, in *Petersen v. State*, 100 Wn.2d 421, 442, 671 P.2d 230 (1983), this Court upheld testimony from a retired judge serving as the plaintiff's expert. Before leaving the bench, Judge Hardyn Soule sentenced a probationer involved in the incident subject to that lawsuit. *Id.* at 442-43. Atkerson misreads

Petersen, contending Judge Soule was not asked how he would have ruled. Pet. for Review at 24. To the contrary, "Plaintiff's counsel posed a hypothetical question assuming a number of facts previously presented as evidence and asked whether, assuming those facts, *Judge Soule would have ordered* a probation revocation hearing." *Petersen*, 100 Wn.2d at 442 (emphasis added). The testimony was not limited to procedures as Atkerson argues. *See* Pet. for Review at 23.

Likewise, Atkerson misstates the holding in *Schulte v*. *Mullan*, 195 Wn. App. 1004, 2016 WL 3919695 (Jul. 18, 2016) (unpublished).⁵ Pet. for Review at 24. The Court of Appeals approved testimony from a retired judge about what substantive conditions the trial court likely would have ordered to ensure a probationer's compliance. *Schulte*, 2016 WL 3919695, at *4. The *Schulte* court did not mention procedures. *Id*.

⁵ Pursuant to GR 14.1, this decision has no precedential value, is not binding on any court, and is cited only for such persuasive value as the Court deems appropriate.

Atkerson neglects to cite *Estate of Bordon v. Department* of *Corrections*, where the Court of Appeals discussed what testimony might lead to establishing a negligence claim against the State, observing:

In previous cases, the nature of that evidence has varied. It has included expert testimony about how judges rule in particular proceedings, factual evidence that the very nature of the negligence led to an offender's release, testimony of the sentencing judge, or expert testimony that the State's negligence directly caused the injury. Causation evidence could also include statistical evidence about what judges do in similar cases.

122 Wn. App. 227, 244 (2004), review denied, 154 Wn.2d 1003,

114 P.3d 1198 (2005) (emphasis added).

Van Doorninck's expert opinion concerning how a reasonable judge would have ruled at a hypothetical shelter care hearing fits squarely within the range of evidence discussed in *Bordon*. CP 747-51. Consequently, the admission of this testimony is consistent with precedent.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly held Judge Van Doorninck's testimony is admissible under ER 403

Although Van Doorninck's substantive testimony is critical to addressing proximate cause in this case, the trial court excluded it under ER 403 based on a belief it was overly prejudicial to have a former judge "explaining what a reasonable judge would do." CP 1006.

The Court of Appeals reversed, holding that Van Doorninck's expert opinion: 1) "is not likely to arouse an emotional response from jurors;" 2) "concerns a central issue in the case;" and 3) is admissible because ER 403 "must be administered in an evenhanded manner" and the trial court considered testimony from Atkerson's witness on the same issues. *Atkerson*, 542 P.3d at 605 (citing *Carson v. Fine*, 123 Wn.2d 206, 225, 867 P.2d 610 (1994)). In contrast to Atkerson's position that simply being a retired judge should disqualify Van Doorninck from offering her expert opinion, this Court in *Carson* stated it is "unthinkable" that a trial court would disallow

evidence on a central issue "based solely on the witness' profession." 123 Wn.2d at 224.

While the strength of Van Doorninck's opinion may hinder Atkerson's ability to establish DCYF's investigation was the proximate cause of harm to Rustin, that reality is not a permissible reason to exclude it as unfairly prejudicial. *See, e.g.*, *State v. Gould*, 58 Wn. App. 175, 183, 791 P.2d 569 (1990) (holding that unfair prejudice "requires more than testimony which is simply adverse to the opposing party"). The Court of Appeals properly applied the ER 403 balancing test to determine Van Doorninck's testimony is admissible.

Atkerson further implies there is a lingering question of admissibility under ER 702 or ER 704. Pet. for Review at 26 n.18; *cf. Reese v. Stroh,* 128 Wn.2d 300, 305-06, 907 P.2d 282 (1995) (discussing ER 702); *Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga*, 181 Wn.2d 346, 352-53, 333 P.3d 388 (2014) ("ER 704 allows an expert to testify on an ultimate issue the trier of fact must resolve."). Atkerson's reliance on *Stenger v. State*, 104 Wn. App. 393, 16 P.3d 655 (2001) is misplaced. Pet. for Review at 26 n.18. In *Stenger*, an attorney sought to offer a purely legal conclusion on a State agency's fulfillment of its obligations "under state and federal law" in violation of ER 704. Id. at 408-09. Here, Van Doorninck's knowledge gained in dependency hearings establishes her expert qualifications under ER 702. Van Doorninck further satisfies ER 704 as she does not present conclusions on a legal issue, *i.e.*, whether DCYF's investigation was faulty or biased and therefore led to a harmful placement decision; she strictly articulates facts about what would have likely occurred at Atkerson's hypothetical shelter care hearing. CP 747-51.

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